
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA


WEST PALM BEACH 

Civil No. 9:16-CV-81624-MARRA


RAQUEL ABRAMS-JACKSON	 	 	 	 

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 

	 	 Plaintiff,	 	 	 	 	 

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 

	 	 v.	 	 	 	 	 	 

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 

ROBERT AVOSSA, CHERYL MCKEEVER	 

(in their individual capacities), SCHOOL BOARD

OF PALM BEACH COUNTY	 	 

	 	 Defendants.	 	 	 	 	 

_______________________________________/


PLAINTIFF, RAQUEL ABRAMS-JACKSON’S RESPONSE  
IN OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO DISMISS FIRST AMENDED   

COMPLAINT AND INCORPORATED MEMORANDUM OF LAW	 	
	 


	 Plaintiff, RAQUEL ABRAMS-JACKSON (“ABRAMS-JACKSON”), by and through 
the undersigned counsel and pursuant to the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, hereby 
files and serves this Response in Opposition to Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss First 
Amended Complaint, and in support thereof states as follows:


Background 

1. On or about September 22, 2016, the Plaintiff filed her initial Complaint for 
Damages against the Defendants.


2. On or about November 17, 2016, the Defendants were served with Plaintiff’s initial 
Complaint for Damages.


3. On or about December 8, 2016, the Defendants filed a Motion to Dismiss and 
Incorporated Memorandum of Law.


4. On or about March 28, 2017, this Court entered an Order granting in part, and 
denying in part, Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss.
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5. On or about April 11, 2017, Plaintiff filed her Amended Complaint and on or about 
April 25, 2017, Defendants filed their Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff’s Amended 
Complaint.


6. For the reasons explained in detail below, Plaintiff, ABRAMS-JACKSON, properly 
pled each claim. As a result, this Court should deny Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss.


Memorandum of Law 

A. MOTION TO DISMISS STANDARD 

	 The standard for ruling on a motion to dismiss is as follows:


	 In ruling on a motion to dismiss, the Court must view the complaint in the 
light most favorable to the Plaintiff, see e.g., Jackson v. Oklaoosa County, Fla. 21 
F.3d 1531, 1534 (11th Cir. 1994), and must limit its consideration to the 
pleadings and any exhibits attached thereto. Fed.R.Civ.P. 10(c); see also GSW, 
Inc. v. Long County, Ga, 999 F.2d 1508, 1510 (11th Cir. 1993). The Court will 
liberally construe the complaint’s allegations in the Plaintiff’s favor. Jenkins v. 
McKeithen, 395 U.S. 411, 421, 89 S.Ct. 1843, 23 L.Ed.2d 404 (1969). However, 
“conclusory allegations, unwarranted factual deductions or legal conclusions 
masquerading as facts will not prevent dismissal. Davila v. Delta Air Lines, Inc. 
326 F.3d 1183, 1185 (11th Cir.2003).


	 In reviewing a complaint on a motion to dismiss under Federal Rule of 
Civil Procedure 12.(b)(6), “courts must be mindful that the Federal Rules require 
only that the complaint contain ‘a short and plain statement of the claim 
showing that the pleader is entitled to relief.’” U.S. v. Baxter Intern, Inc., 345 F.3d 
866, 880 (11th Cir.2003) (citing Fed.R.Civ.P. 8(a)). This is a liberal pleading 
requirement, one that does not require a plaintiff to plead with particularity every 
element of a cause of action. Roe v. Aware Woman Ctr. for Choice, Inc., 253 F.3d 
678, 683 (11th Cir.2001). However a plaintiff’s obligation to provide the grounds 
for his or her entitlement to relief requires more than labels and conclusions, and 
a formulaic recitation of the elements of the cause of action will not do. Bell 
Atlantic Corp. v. Twonbly, 550 U.S. 544, 554-555, 127 S.Ct. 1955, 167 L.Ed2d 
929 (2007). The complaints factual allegations “must be enough to raise a right 
to relief above the speculative level” Id. at 555, and cross “the line from 
conceivable to plausible.” Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 680, 129 S.Ct. 1937, 
173 L.Ed.2d 868 (2009). 


Walks v. Orange County School Board, 2015 WL 179274, at 81 (M.D. Fla. 2015). 
Moreover, since motions to dismiss filed pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 
12(b)(6) test the facial sufficiency of a complaint, such motions are to be analyzed in 
conjunction with the standards set forth in Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 8 (“Rule 8”), 
which governs the general rules of pleading.
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B. PLAINTIFF’S CLAIMS ARE SUFFICIENTLY STATED 

	 The Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint properly pleads ABRAMS-JACKSON’S 
claims either directly or inferentially through its factual allegations or attached exhibits. 
At this point, all the Court must determine is whether “the claimant is entitled to offer 
evidence to support the claims,” not whether the Plaintiff can ultimately prove the facts 
alleged in the initial complaint. Swierkiewicz v. Sorema, N.A., 534 U.S. 506, 511 (2002); 
United States v. Baxter Int’l, Inc. 345 F.3d 866, 881 (11th Cir.2003). Further, as 
explained by district court:


	 A race discrimination plaintiff need not set forth the elements of a prima 
facia case at the initial pleadings stage; rather, because racial discrimination in 
employment is a claim upon which relief can be granted, “I was fired from my 
job because of my race” is all a complaint has to say to survive a motion to 
dismiss for failure to state a claim.


	 Mason v. Cole, Scott & Kissane, P.A., 2008 WL 2051359, at *2 (S.D. Fla. 2008).


	 In Zachary v. Comprehensive Health Management, Inc., 2012 WL 3264899 (M.D. 
Fla. 2012), which dealt with a 42 U.S.C. §1981 retaliation claim, the Court in that case, 
denying the defendant’s motion to dismiss wrote the following:


	 Plaintiff has also asserted that after she engaged in protected activity, she 
was denied access to training (which would allow her to be promoted), that she 
was issued oral and written reprimands, and that she faced other disciplinary 
action. This Court finds, at this preliminary juncture, that the prospect of facing 
disciplinary action might dissuade a reasonable worker from making or 
supporting a charge of discrimination.


	 Plaintiff essentially asserts that this Court would be jumping the 
proverbial gun to dismiss her retaliatory claim with prejudice at the pleading 
stage because she should be allowed discovery to unearth facts in support of 
her claim. After reviewing her Amended Complaint in conjunction with the 
Swierkiewicz opinion, this Court agrees with Plaintiff. Plaintiff has alleged that 
shortly after complaining of racial discrimination, Defendant, inter alia, issued 
written and oral reprimands and other discipline designed to lead to her 
termination. “A claim has facial plausibility when the plaintiff pleads factual 
content that allows the court to draw the reasonable inference that the 
defendant is liable for the misconduct alleged.” Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 678. Plaintiff’s 
retaliation allegations are facially plausible and are not subject to dismissal with 
prejudice. Id.
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	 The Supreme Court has explained that a complaint need only “give the 
defendant fair notice of what the plaintiff’s claim is and the grounds upon which it 
rests.” Swierkiewicz v. Sorema N.A., 534 U.S. 506, 512 (2012); Accord Aitchison, 
Topeka & Santa Fe Ry. v. Buell, 480 U.S. 557, 568 n. 15 (1987)(under Federal Rule 8, 
claimant has “no duty to set out all of the relevant facts in his complaint”). “Specific 
facts are not necessary in a Complaint; instead the statement need only ‘give the 
defendant fair notice of what the. . . claim is and the grounds upon which it rests.’” 
Espos Tech., 636 F. Supp.2d 57, 63 (D.D.C. 2009) (quoting Bell Atlantic v. Twonbly, 550 
U.S. 544, 555 (2007)). The simplified notice pleading standard relies on liberal 
discovery rules and summary judgment motions to define disputed facts and to 
dispose of unmeritorious claims. See Swierkiewicz, 534 U.S. at 512. Courts have found 
that if the information sought by the motion is obtainable through discovery, the motion 
should be denied. See, e.g., Towers Tenant Ass’n v. Towers Ltd. P’ship, 563 F. Supp. 
566, 569 (D.D.C. 1983) denying motion for more definite statement because details 
such as “dates, times, name and places” are “the central object of discovery, and need 
not be pleaded.”)

	 Here, Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint is not confusing and does not violate 
Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 8(a)’s requirement of a “short and plain statement of the 
claim showing that the pleader is entitled to relief.” The Amended Complaint 
specifically identifies the actions of Defendants and how those actions are wrongful. 
The Amended Complaint describes in detail the facts that Plaintiff is a member of a 
protected class, that she was qualified for her job, that she suffered adverse 
employment action, that similarly situated individuals outside of the protected class 
were treated more favorably. Furthermore, the facts of the Amended Complaint state 
Plaintiff was engaged in statutorily protected activity or expression, that she suffered a 
materially adverse employment action, and that there is causal relation between the 
two events.	 Additionally, the court in Herman v. Early Educ. and Care, Inc., 2015 WL 
4275499 (N.D. Fla. 2015), in denying a motion to dismiss and rejecting the defendant’s 
argument that the plaintiff’s complaint alleging racial discrimination and retaliation 
claims, failed to state sufficient facts wrote the following:
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	 “However, in the employment discrimination context, neither Iqbal nor Twonbly, 
nor the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, require a complaint to allege facts 
establishing each element of a prima facie case under McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. 
Green, 411 U.S. 792, 93 S.Ct. 1817, 36 L.Ed.2d 668 (1973), to survive dismissal.” Id.

	 Pursuant to the foregoing standards ABRAMS-JACKSON has satisfied the 
requirements of Rule 8 and has properly pled each claim in her Amended Complaint. 
Consequently, this Court should deny the Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss.


C. PLAINTIFF HAS COMPLIED WITH GENERAL PLEADING REQUIREMENTS 

	 Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint does not constitute a shotgun pleading. In a 
shotgun pleading case, it is “virtually impossible to know which allegations of fact are 
intended to support which claim(s) for relief.” Anderson v. District Board of Trustees of 
Central Florida Community College, 77 F.3d 364, 366 (11th 1996). Here, in Plaintiff’s 
Complaint, it is clear that Plaintiff is accusing Defendants of violating various 
discrimination laws regarding Plaintiff’s employment and retaliated against Plaintiff for 
engaging in protected speech. Plaintiff concisely and clearly recited the facts in 
paragraphs numbering one through fifty-eight (58). The paragraphs are short, direct, to 
the point, and not at all impossible for Defendant to understand. Plaintiff has then 
incorporated paragraphs one through forty-five and then forty-six through forty-eight 
into the counts so that Defendant can ascertain from the Complaint how Plaintiff is 
alleging wrongfulness by Defendant, which legal theories Plaintiff is pursuing, and how 
the factual assertions play into those legal theories. Plaintiff has additionally added 
facts into the counts to clarify for Defendant.

	 Additionally, this Court made no mention to any purported “shotgun pleading” 
as the Defense alleges, but merely requests a narrowing of focus due to the various 
violations that the Plaintiff alleges the Defendant engaged in.  Though, the Defendants 
believed in the first Complaint that any pleading to them is a shotgun pleading, and 
that Federal Courts routinely dismiss complaints with such pleading style, this Court 
did not dismiss the Plaintiff’s claim in any part for any relation to shotgun pleadings, 
and this overplayed Defense is an attempt to mislead or bias the Court into taking a 
position that it did not.


	 Page  of 5 12



	 Pursuant to the foregoing ABRAMS-JACKSON has satisfied the pleading 
requirements and this is not a shotgun pleading. Consequently, this Court should deny 
Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss.


D. SECTION 1983, TITLE VII, AND FCRA CLAIMS 

	 Plaintiff has sufficiently pled claims for violation of rights pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 
1983, Title VII, and FCRA.

	 Many of these claims are subject to the same analysis. Disparate treatment 
claims under Title VII and Section 1983 require the same proof. Specifically, a plaintiff 
must show (1) that she belongs to a protected class, (2) that she was qualified to do 
the job, (3) that she was subjected to an adverse employment action, and (4) that her 
employer treated similarly situated employees outside her class more favorably. 
Crawford v. Carroll, 529 F.3d 961, 970 (11th Cir. 2008).

	 Additionally, Florida courts apply federal case law interpreting Title VII to FCRA 
claims because the FCRA was patterned after Title VII. See Ranger Ins. Co. v. Bal 
Harbour Club, Inc., 549 So. 2d 1005, 1009 (Fla. 1989).

	 In regards to retaliatory harassment claims, to survive a motion to dismiss, 
Plaintiff must allege sufficient factual content for the Court to draw the inference that (1) 
she engaged in a statutorily protected activity or expression, (2) that she suffered a 
materially adverse employment action, and (3) that there was some causal relation 
between the two events. See Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 678; McCann, 526 F.3d at 1375.

	 Pursuant to the foregoing, ABRAMS-JACKSON has properly pled claims in her 
Amended Complaint and Consequently this Court should deny Defendants’ Motion to 
Dismiss.


D. PLAINTIFF SUFFICIENTLY PLED CLAIMS FOR VIOLATION OF RIGHTS 

	 Plaintiff has sufficiently pled claims for violation of rights pursuant to 42 U.S.C. 
§1983. 

	 Pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1983, municipalities can be liable under the following 
theories: 1) officially enacted policies; 2) where final policymakers acquiesce to a long 
standing practice; and 3) where the municipality ratifies a subordinate’s 
unconstitutional decision and said decision is adopted by a person having final 
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decision making authority. See Hoefling v City of Miami, 811 F.3d 1271, 1279 (11th Cir. 
2016).

	 A municipality’s employee is “considered a ‘final policymaker’ for governmental 
liability purposes ‘only if his decisions have legal effect without further action by the 
governing body, and if the governing body lacks the power to reverse the. . . 
employee’s decision.’” See Kamensky v. Dean, 148 Fed. Apps. 878, 880 (11th Cir. 
2005) (quoting Holloman ex rel. Holloman v. Harland, 37 F.3d 1252, 1292 (11th Cir. 
2004)). “A municipal official is not a final policymaker,” however, “when his or her 
decisions are subject to meaningful administrative review.” See Maschmeier v. Scott, 
269 Fed. Apps. 941, 943 (11th Cir. 2004); see also Willingham v. City of Valparaiso, Fla., 
97 F. Supp. 3d 1345 (N.D. Fla. 2015).

	 Under the final policymaker analysis, municipal liability turns on whether there 
was “an actual ‘opportunity’ for ‘meaningful’ review.” See Holloman, 370 F.3d at 1292; 
see also Oladeinde v. City of Birmingham, 230 F.3d 1275, 1295 (11th Cir. 2000) 
(emphasizing that there must be an actual “opportunity” for “meaningful administrative 
review”). To make this determination, courts “look not only to state and local positive 
law,’ but also ‘custom and usage having the force of law.’” See Holloman, 370 F.3d at 
1292.

	 In Willimingham, the court wrote:


	 	 In this case, Mr. Willingham attempts to hold the City liable for 
Mayor Arnold’s decision to terminate him, The City, in response, claims that Mr. 
Willingham failed to allege in his amended complaint that Mayor Arnold had 
been delegated final policymaking authority. See ECF No. 303 at 14. The City 
also contends that Mayor Arnold is not the final policymaker because his 
employment decisions were subject to review by the City Commission. Id. at 12.


	 	 As a preliminary matter, the argument concerning Mr. Willingham’s 
purported failure to allege delegation is a nonstarter. The City essentially claims 
that a failure to allege the specific theory of municipal liability - here, delegation 
to a final policymaker - fails the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure’s pleading 
standards.


	 	 The law does not support such a heightened pleading standard. A 
plaintiff must plead “factual content that allows the court to draw the reasonable 
inference that the defendant is liable for the misconduct alleged.” Ashcroft v. 
Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678, 129 S.Ct. 1937, 173 L.Ed.2d 868 (2009). In municipal 
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liability context, facts tailored to the specific theory of liability are unnecessary 
so long as a reasonable inference can be drawn from the allegations that 
“municipal policy or custom directly caused the complained-of constitutional 
injury.” Edwards v. City of Kingston, No. 1:08-CV-803 LEKRFT, 2010 WL 
3761892, at *7 (N.D.N.Y. Sept. 20, 2010); see also Barnhart v. Town of Parma, 
252 F.R.D. 156, 162-63 (W.D.N.Y. 2008) (holding that the plaintiffs’ complaint 
sufficed “[a]lthough [the] factual allegations. . .[did] not readily reveal [the] theory 
for imposing municipal liability against the [defendant]”).


	 	 The amended complaint contains sufficient facts from which the 
reasonable inference can be drawn that the City’s policy or custom caused the 
alleged violation. See ECF No. 77. Indeed, contrary to the City’s assertion, Mr. 
Willingham’s factual allegations reveal a final policymaker theory of liability. For 
instance, the amended complaint reads:


	 [T]he City Commission followed a practice of allowing its City 
attorney to guide the Mayor in taking actions such that together they set 
City policy in the [employment context]. The City Commission often tacitly 
ratified or by inaction allowed City policy to be set by the Mayor. . .


97 F. Supp. 3d at 1351-52.

	 The Willingham court stated that “the City was on notice that Mr. Willingham 
believed it liable for the actions of the Mayor, whom the City allowed to set municipal 
policy. Mr. Willingham therefore sufficiently pled that Mayor Arnold was the final 
policymaker for the City.” Id. at 1352.

	 In this case, ABRAMS-JACKSON claims that the The School Board of Palm 
Beach County delegated final decision making authority directly to Avossa and 
McKeever, but also claims that any review of the adverse actions, including the 
decision to demote, harass, intimidate, and transfer, occurred absent any legitimate 
review.

	 Pursuant to the foregoing, ABRAMS-JACKSON has properly pled claims under 
42 U.S.C. 1983. Consequently this Court should deny Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss. 

E. INDIVIDUAL CLAIMS AND QUALIFIED IMMUNITY AGAINST DEFENDANTS 

AVOSSA AND MCKEEVER 

Defendants seek dismissal of Plaintiff’s counts filed against Defendants Avossa 
and McKeever in their individual capacity.  
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“Whether a defendant is entitled to qualified immunity is determined using the 

version of facts most favorable to the plaintiff.” Reams v. Irvin, 561 F.3d at 1260 (11th 
Cir. 2009). Qualified immunity is to ensure that “before they are subjected to suit, 
[public] officers are on notice their conduct is unlawful.” Hope v. Pelzer, 536 U.S. 730, 
122 S.Ct. 2508, 153 L.Ed.2d 666(2002), citing Saucier v. Katz, 533 U.A. 194, 2016, 121 
S.Ct. 2151, 150 L.Ed.2d 272 (2001). Qualified immunity shields government officials 
performing discretionary functions from liability unless their actions violate “clearly 
established statutory or constitutional rights of which a reasonable person would have 
known.” Id. at 739, 122 S.Ct. 2508, citing Harlow v. Fitzgerald, 457 U.S. 800, 818, 102 
S.Ct. 2727, 73 L.Ed.2d 396 (1982). “Qualified immunity balances two important 
interests-the need to hold public officials accountable when they exercise power 
irresponsibly and the need to shield officials from harassment, distraction, and liability 
when they perform their duties reasonably.” Pearson v. Callahan, 129 S.Ct. 808, 815 
(2009). Avossa and McKeever enjoy no qualified immunity for their unlawful conduct.

	 The Supreme Court mandated a two-step analysis for resolving qualified 
immunity claims in Saucier v. Katz, 533 U.S. 194, 201 (2001). First, a court must decide 
whether the facts alleged “show the [defendant’s] conduct violated a constitutional 
right” Id. Second, the court must decide “whether the right was clearly established.” Id. 
“Clearly established law” is that law that is sufficiently established so to provide public 
officials with “fair notice” that conduct alleged is prohibited.

	 The Eleventh Circuit has previously held that the right to be free of racial 
discrimination is a clearly established right, and claims based upon the same negate 
claims for qualified immunity. See Jolivette v. Arrowood, 180 F. App’x 883, 886 (11th 
Cir. 2006) (holding that racial discrimination is clearly established right in affirming a 
denial of the defendant’s motion for summary judgment on qualified immunity 
grounds). See also Alexander v. Fulton County, GA., 207 F.3d 1303, 1313 and 1321 
(11th Cir. 2000)(affirming a jury verdict of intentional employment discrimination by a 
black sheriff who made race-based employment decisions concerning white officers 
with respect to discipline, promotions, transfers, and reclassifications); Yeldell v. 
Cooper Green Hosp., Inc., 956 F.2d 1056, 1064 (11th Cir. 1991) (holding that illegality of 
intentionally discriminatory hiring and firing practices was a clearly established violation 
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of the Equal Protection Clause); Brown v. City of Fort Lauderdale, 923 F.2d 1474, 1478 
(11th Cir. 1991) (recognizing a right under the Equal Protection Clause to be free from 
termination because of race).

	 Viewed in the light most favorable to the Plaintiff, Plaintiff’s claims can support a 
finding that Defendants’ conduct and actions were violations of federal law and 
Plaintiff’s rights were clearly established at the time.

	 For the reasons stated above, Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss should be denied 
by this Court. 

F. PLAINTIFF HAS SUFFICIENTLY PLED CLAIMS FOR VIOLATION OF 

PROCEDURAL DUE PROCESS IN VIOLATION OF FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT


	 Plaintiff has sufficiently pled claims for Violation of Procedural Due Process in 
Violation of Fourteenth Amendment against Defendants.   

	 “The fundamental requirement of due process is the opportunity to be heard ‘at 
a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner.’” Matthews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 
333, 96 S.Ct. 893, 902, 47 L.Ed.2d 18 (1976) (quoting Armstrong v. Manzo, 380 U.S. 
545, 552, 85 S.Ct. 1187, 1191, 14 L.Ed.2d 6s (1965)); Cryder v. Oxendine, 24 F.3d 175, 
177 (11th Cir. 1994) (“Due process entitles an individual to notice and some form of 
hearing before state action may finally deprive him or her of a property interest.”) Under 
Board of Regents of State Colleges v. Roth, 408 U.S. 564 (1972), Perry v. P 
Sindermann, 408 U.S. 593 (1972), Sullivan v. School Board of Pinellas County, 773 F.2d 
1182, 1185 (11th Cir. 1985) “To have a constitutionally protected property interest 
protected by Due Process, a person must have more than a unilateral expectation of it. 
He must, instead, have a legitimate claim of entitlement to it. . . Such an interest 
generally may be created by law or through some mutually explicit understanding 
between the parties.” Roth, 408 U.S. at 576.  The Plaintiff and the Defendants shared 
an employment contract, and within this employment contract expressed a set of 
procedures that acknowledged that the Plaintiff retained a property interest in her 
continued employment to its contractual completion.  When the Defendants demoted 
and transferred the Plaintiff in violation of Title VII, they denied contractual entitlements 
to Due Process that were afforded other similarly situated probationary employees; 
violating the Equal Protection Clause of the 14th Amendment.  
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	 Additionally, when the Defendants unlawfully demoted and transferred the 
Plaintiff violating Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e et seq., 
without just cause or Due Process while in the middle of her then current contractual 
term, the Defendants equally deprived her the opportunity to seek continued 
employment without Due Process.  

	 Pursuant to the foregoing, ABRAMS-JACKSON has properly pled claims for 
Procedural Due Process violations and Consequently this Court should deny 
Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss.	  

G. DEFENDANT’S MOTION TO STRIKE PUNITIVE DAMAGES SHOULD BE DENIED 
	 The Amended Complaint states that Defendants, Avossa and McKeever, 
intentionally engaged in unlawful conduct that deprived Plaintiff of her constitutional 
rights, absent retaliation, to be free from racial discrimination. 

	 While Plaintiff has alleged sufficient facts to support a prayer for punitive 
damages, she was not required to do so. See Gallini v. Commerce and Industry Ins., 
2008 WL 3895918 (M.D. Fla. 2008) (“Contrary to Commerce’s contention, the 
magistrate judge correctly concluded that pursuant to Eleventh Circuit precedent, a 
plaintiff who pleads punitive damages in a federal diversity action is not required to 
show evidence in the record to provide a basis for its demand. . . When pleading 
punitive punitive damages, a plaintiff must merely comply with Federal Rule of Civil 
Procedure 8(a)(3), which requires ‘a concise statement identifying the remedies and the 
parties against whom relief is sought.’. . . Plaintiffs’ motion complies with the minimal 
pleading requirements set forth by Rule 8. Accordingly, Commerce’s objections to the 
contrary are overrules.” (citations omitted).

	 For the reasons set forth above, ABRAMS-JACKSON has properly pled punitive 
and compensatory damages and consequently this Court should deny Defendants’ 
Motion to Dismiss.	 


Conclusion 

	 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, Raquel Abrams-Jackson, respectfully requests that this 
Court: (A) Deny the Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss or (B) in the alternative, should the 
Court grant the Motion to Dismiss, to do so without prejudice so as to provide leave to 
amend, and (C) award any and all such other relief as the Court deems just and proper.
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

	 I HEREBY CERTIFY that on May 9, 2017, I electronically filed the foregoing with 

the Clerk of Court using the CM/ECF system, which will serve copies upon all parties 

of record.	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 by: s/ Danielle Watson, 


	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Watson Leigh Law and Education 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Services Group, Inc.

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Malik Leigh, Esq.

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Email: malik@WatsonLeigh.com 

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Danielle R. Watson, Esq.

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Email: danielle@WatsonLeigh.com

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Service: service@WatsonLeigh.com 

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 PO Box 221172

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 West Palm Beach, FL 33422

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 P: 561-508-8555	 
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